RECEIVED

JUN - 8 2016

SC SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Charleston County

Roger E. Henderson, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

TIMOTHY YOUNG,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-002162  
\_\_\_\_\_

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
\_\_\_\_\_

LAURA R. BAER  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether the PCR court erred in finding trial counsel effective where her failure to properly communicate to the solicitor that Petitioner wanted to accept the plea offer to a recommended cap of three years resulted in the expiration of the offer before it could be formally accepted by the court and Petitioner was sentenced to fifteen years incarceration after trial?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### Introduction

Petitioner Timothy Young resided in a poor area of Charleston. Young was arrested by Charleston County police officer Patrick Gill for loitering mere blocks from his residence. App. 48, ll. 3-13; App. 52, l. 22 – 53, l. 3. According to officer Gill, at a May 25, 2010 bond hearing on the loitering charge, Magistrate Steinard issued a “trespass notice” as a condition of bond such that Young was prohibited from entering a one-by-two block area that would have been his most direct route home.<sup>1</sup> Because Judge Steinard was deceased and there was no written order, the only evidence of the “trespass notice” was Gill’s testimony. App. 38, ll. 16 – 40, l. 3; App. 42, l. 13 – 43, l. 15; App. 47, l. 3 – 50, l. 3. Young testified that the magistrate merely instructed him not to loiter in the area, but that he was still allowed to walk through the area to get home. Otherwise, Young would have to walk almost four blocks out of the way to get home. App. 58, l. 5 – 61, l. 12.

It was based on the alleged “trespass notice” that the officer went to approach Young on May 29, 2010. App. 38, ll. 5-15; App. 44, ll. 1-20. Young ran from the officer, after which an alleged altercation ensued and Young was arrested. A quantity of crack cocaine was found in Young’s pocket during a search incident to arrest. App. 40, l. 4 – 42, l. 3; App. 50, l. 4 – 51, l. 3; App. 61, l. 13 – 65, l. 19. Young was charged with possession with intent to distribute (“PWID”) cocaine base (third offense), PWID cocaine base within proximity of a park, resisting arrest, and threatening the life of a public official.<sup>2</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> A map of the area was utilized at Young’s trial to show the area where the no-loitering notice was issued, where Young was seen by police thereafter, and where Young lived. App. 59, l. 2 – 60, l. 3.

<sup>2</sup> As will be seen *infra*, Young was acquitted of threatening the life of a public official. App. 278, ll. 13-17.

On August 12, 2010, the State offered to recommend a cap of three years if Young pled guilty to threatening a public official, PWID crack (second offense), and resisting arrest. The solicitor would dismiss the charge for PWID cocaine base within proximity of a park. App. 383. Because of Young's belief that he was lawfully walking, and not loitering, in the area where the officer approached him, Young rejected the three year offer when it was initially made. However, once Young had spent a year in the county jail, he decided to accept the three year offer when it was re-extended by the solicitor on June 9, 2011. App. 353, l. 4 – 356, l. 14; App. 384. Young was set to appear to enter a guilty plea during the week of August 1, 2011. App. 385. After court was cancelled for the remainder of that week because Judge Hughston fell ill,<sup>3</sup> Young's case was set for trial. App. 364, ll. 10-22. At Young's sentencing hearing, trial counsel admitted some responsibility for Young's inability to "take" the three year offer, saying that it was due to a "miscommunication" between she and the solicitor. App. 284, l. 15 – 285, l. 7. However, at the PCR hearing, trial counsel shifted the blame to the solicitor, saying that the solicitor arbitrarily increased the offer to five years merely because Young was unable to appear to plea after the judge fell ill. App. 364, l. 23 – 366, l. 16.

### **Indictment, Trial, and Direct Appeal**

On August 2, 2010, the Charleston County grand jury indicted Petitioner Timothy Young for possession with intent to distribute ("PWID") cocaine base, PWID cocaine base within proximity of a park, resisting arrest, and threatening the life of a public official. App. 397 – 402; App. 4, ll. 14-18.

---

<sup>3</sup> The South Carolina Judicial Department's schedule for the August 2011 Term of Circuit and Family Court was admitted at the PCR hearing, confirming that Judge Hughston was the judge scheduled for General Sessions court in Charleston the week of August 1, 2011. App. 386.

On August 31 – September 2, 2011, Young proceeded to trial before the Honorable Deadra Jefferson and a jury. Young was represented by Cantrell Frayer and Chad Simpson. The State was represented by assistant solicitors Culver McClain and Chad Simpson. App. 1; App. 249. The jury found Young not guilty of threatening the life of a public official, but convicted him of both drug offenses and resisting arrest. App. 277 – 279. Judge Jefferson imposed concurrent sentences of fifteen (15) years for PWID, third offense; ten (10) years for PWID within proximity of a park; and one (1) year for resisting arrest. App. 286 – 287.

A pre-trial colloquy was conducted, at which time Young rejected the State's five year plea offer. App. 4 – 9. During the sentencing hearing, trial counsel Frayer said:

Your Honor, I just need to be clear for the record. **There was an offer in the case of a plea to possession of cocaine base third, resisting arrest, and threatening a public official. The State would dismiss the possession of cocaine proximity of a school in exchange for a guilty plea with a recommended cap of three years.**

**Due to some miscommunication between myself and the solicitor's office, which we talked about earlier this week, that offer was -- my client was not able to take a -- was not able to take -- make available of that offer.**

There was a second offer that was extended to my client, which was a guilty plea to possession of -- possession with intent to distribute cocaine base second offense, resisting arrest, and threatening a public official. That offer was rejected by my client and we proceed[ed] to trial.

App. 284, l. 15 – 285, l. 7 (emphasis added).

Appellate defender Katherine Hudgins represented Young on direct appeal. App. 289. On November 27, 2013, the Court of Appeals issued an unpublished opinion dismissing the appeal pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738, 87 S.Ct. 1396 (1967). App. 304.

### **Post-Conviction Relief Application and Hearing**

On January 22, 2014, Young filed an application for post-conviction relief ("PCR"). App. 306. On March 20, 2015, the State filed its Return. App. 335. An evidentiary hearing was held

before the Honorable Roger E. Henderson on July 21, 2015. Young was represented by Rodney Davis, and the State was represented by assistant attorney general J. Rutledge Johnson. App. 340. Young and trial counsel Frayer both testified at the PCR hearing. App. 341.

Young testified that he was “locked up” in the county jail from the date of his arrest, May 29, 2010, until his trial in August 2011. Approximately three to four months after his arrest, Frayer advised Young that the State extended him a plea offer for three years. The same offer of three years was presented to Young again after he had spent approximately one year in the county jail. At that point Young agreed to accept to the State’s offer. A plea hearing was scheduled for the first week of August, but Young was never brought to court. Young confirmed that he would have entered the guilty plea to the three year offer had he been brought to court that week. When the solicitor later increased the offer to five years, Young rejected the offer. App. 353, l. 4 – 356, l. 14.

Trial counsel Frayer testified that the initial offer from the solicitor’s office was a cap of three years, evidenced by an e-mail from the solicitor sent August 12, 2010. App. 362, ll. 3-6; App. 383. She agreed that, at first, Young rejected the three year offer because he wanted to deal with the trespass charge in magistrate’s court first. Frayer tried to get the solicitor to extend a better offer, even asking her to consider time-served. However, the solicitor was only willing to re-extend the offer of a three year cap. Frayer said that she asked the solicitor to put Young on the plea docket in August, and the solicitor complied by placing him on the docket for the week of August 1, 2011. Judge Hughston was presiding over general sessions court that week, but fell ill such that the remainder of the week’s docket was cancelled and Young was never transported. According to Frayer, the solicitor said that since he did not plead when he was on the plea docket, the offer to Young was increased to a cap of five years. Frayer expressed to the solicitor that Young was being penalized for something beyond his control, to no avail. Thereafter, Frayer explained to Young that

his options were now only to accept the five year offer or go to trial. Young was understandably upset and rejected the five year offer. App. 362, l. 3 – 367, l. 21; App. 369, l. 10 – 373, l. 16; App. 383 – 385.

### **Order of Dismissal**

On September 23, 2015, Judge Henderson filed an Order of Dismissal, denying Young's application for post-conviction relief. App. 389. The court found that:

By no fault of Counsel, Judge Hughston fell ill and the term of General Sessions was cancelled. Counsel then contacted the solicitor and asked that this cancellation not be held against Applicant and to re-offer the three (3) year cap. The solicitor, who may rescind an offer at any time before a defendant accepts it, decided not to re-offer the three (3) year cap. Instead, the solicitor offered Applicant a plea for five (5) years, which Applicant rejected on the record before his trial.

App. 341. The Court further found that: "Applicant had ample opportunity to accept either offer, but rejected both of them. When he did not accept the offers, but rejected them, the solicitor was under no obligation to re-offer the plea bargains." App. 341. The Order did not mention Frayer's statements with respect to the plea offers made during the sentencing hearing. See App. 284, l. 15 – 285, l. 7.

## ARGUMENT

**The PCR court erred in finding trial counsel effective where her failure to properly communicate to the solicitor that Petitioner wanted to accept the plea offer to a recommended cap of three (3) years resulted in the expiration of the offer before it could be formally accepted by the court and Petitioner was sentenced to fifteen (15) years incarceration after trial.**

The PCR court erred in finding that withdrawal of the three year plea offer was simply a matter of prosecutorial discretion and no fault of trial counsel. See App. 341. During the sentencing hearing, trial counsel Frayer described the three year offer as becoming unavailable to Young due to a **miscommunication** between she and the solicitor. App. 284, l. 15 – 285, l. 1. Implicit in an attorney's duty to communicate a plea offer to their client is the consequential duty to properly communicate the client's acceptance of the offer to the prosecutor. See Davie v. State, 381 S.C. 601, 609, 675 S.E.2d 416, 420 (2009) (announcing rule that "counsel's failure to convey a plea offer constitutes deficient performance"). Here, it was Frayer's failure to properly communicate with the solicitor that resulted in the expiration or revocation of the three year plea offer before it could be formally accepted. App. 284, l. 15 – 285, l. 1. Young was prejudiced in that he was ultimately sentenced to fifteen years, **five times the maximum time that the solicitor would have recommended pursuant to the three year cap offer**. App. 286, l. 19 – 287, l. 5; App. 356, ll. 5-14; see Bell v. State, 410 S.C. 436, 443, 765 S.E.2d 4, 7-8 (Ct. App. 2014) (finding evidence of prejudice from the difference in the offer and sentence imposed and the applicant's self-serving statement that he would have accepted offer).

A defendant has the right to the effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 685–86, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984). This Court has also held that "a defendant has the right to effective assistance of counsel during the plea bargaining process." Davie, 381 S.C. at 607, 675 S.E.2d at

419. “[A]s a general rule, defense counsel has the duty to communicate formal offers from the prosecution to accept a plea on terms and conditions that may be favorable to the accused.” Missouri v. Frye, 132 S.Ct. 1399, 1408; see also Davie, 381 S.C. at 609, 675 S.E.2d at 420 (2009).

It is axiomatic that an attorney’s duty to communicate a plea offer to their client requires that such communication be done in a timely manner. See Bell, 410 S.C. at 439, 765 S.E.2d at 5 (upholding grant of post-conviction relief where trial counsel failed to communicate the plea offer to client before the jury’s verdict); Davie, 381 S.C. at 610, 675 S.E.2d at 421 (finding deficient performance even where delay in communication of offer was caused by “excusable neglect”). Likewise, the communication to client **must include information on when the plea offer will expire**. See Kollé v. State, 386 S.C. 578, 591, 690 S.E.2d 73, 80 (2010) (finding plea counsel deficient in misinforming client that the plea offer would remain open until after the suppression hearing). Further, once a defendant indicates their intent to accept the solicitor’s offer, the trial attorney **must properly communicate the desire to accept the offer to the solicitor**, otherwise the communication of the offer to the client would be pointless.

In the present case, the State made the following offer via e-mail on August 12, 2010

Here is my offer:  
DOA: 05/29/10  
Threatening Public Official .... AS IS  
PWID Crack 3<sup>rd</sup>... Poss Crack 2<sup>nd</sup>  
Prox Crack ... NP  
RA... AS IS  
\* Recommend a cap of 3 years

Please let me know if he is inclined to accept. I intend to place him on a plea docket for Sept. 6.

App. 383. Ten months later, on June 9, 2011, defense counsel asked the solicitor to consider making an offer of time-served in light of the more than one year Young had been in the county,

detention center and the lack of any written order regarding trespassing. The solicitor responded:

My offer of Poss 3rd with a recommended cap of 3 years is extremely generous. I will put him on one more plea docket for June 27. If he does not plead that week, I can put him on a trial docket for July 18.

App. 384. That deadline for acceptance of the offer was obviously extended because on June 29, 2011, a notice was sent to trial counsel:

The above-referenced matter involving your client is on the Guilty Plea Docket for the week of August 1, 2011. Please call this office on the Friday before the plea week in order to determine the exact date and time your client is scheduled to appear.

Your client's failure to attend court at the appointed time, whether or not he wishes to plead guilty, will result in the issuance of a Bench Warrant for his arrest. Furthermore, if your client does not appear at the appointed time his case may be placed on the next Trial Docket and may be tried in his absence if he fails to appear for trial.

App. 385.

Trial counsel Frayer identified the aforementioned e-mails and plea notice on cross-examination at the PCR hearing. Thus, though Frayer initially testified that the three year offer was first made in March or April of 2011, she subsequently acknowledged that the solicitor's e-mail dated August 12, 2010 relayed the offer. App. 362, l. 3 – 367, l. 21; App. 369, l. 10 – 373, l. 16; App. 383 – 385. The timing of the e-mail is consistent with Young's testimony that the offer was extended three to four months after he was arrested. App. 353, ll. 12-15.

Both Frayer and Young agreed that the initial three year offer was rejected. However, they also both agreed that after Young had spent a year in jail, he was open to a plea offer. That was why Frayer requested an offer of time-served on June 9, 2011, to which the solicitor responded that three years was the best offer she would extend. Young was then placed on the plea docket for the week of August 1, 2011. However, when the judge fell ill, court was not held for the remainder of the week and the solicitor increased the plea offer to five years. App. 353, l. 4 – 355, l. 20; App. 362, l.

20 – 365, l. 25; App. 366, ll. 23-25, App. 384 – 385. Frayer said that she went to the jail and told Young about the increase in the offer, at which time he said “no, I can't do -- I am not going to take that five, you know, it was supposed to be the cap of three, we are just going to go to . . . trial.” App. 366, l. 12 – 367, l. 1. Frayer then explained: “Because that is the only way I would have been ready for trial is when he said they he was -- hey, I am not taking the five, let's get ready for trial. And so we were ready for trial.” App. 367, ll. 2-5. Thus, it was only after the three year offer was withdrawn that Young made the decision to go to trial and that Frayer even began to prepare for trial. App. 355, l. 14 – 356, l. 1; App. 366, l. 6 – 367, l. 5.