STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

CERTIORARI TO CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Roger E. Henderson, Circuit Court Judge

---

**RECEIVED**

SEP 22 2016

Appellate Case No. 2015-002162  
Lower Court Case No. 2014-CP-10-0437

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Timothy Young,.....Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,.....Respondent.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

J. RUTLEDGE JOHNSON  
Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
SC Bar # 78871

P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

## **QUESTION PRESENTED**

Did the PCR court properly find Counsel effective in her representation of Petitioner where Petitioner had ample opportunity to accept two plea offers but simply failed to do so?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner (Timothy Young) is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment of the Charleston County Clerk of Court. The Applicant was indicted at the August 2010 term of the Charleston County Grand Jury for possession with intent to distribute (PWID) cocaine base- third offense (2010-GS-10-5622), possession with intent to distribute cocaine base within proximity of a school/park (2010-GS-10-5623), and resisting arrest (2010-GS-10-5624). The Applicant was represented by Cantrell Frayer, Esquire.

On August 31-September 2, 2011, the Applicant proceeded to trial and was found guilty. The Applicant was sentenced by the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson to confinement for a period of fifteen years for PWID cocaine base, ten years for PWID cocaine base within the proximity of a school/park, and one year for resisting arrest. The Applicant's convictions are to be served concurrently.

The Applicant filed a timely Notice of Appeal. His appeal was perfected by Katherine Hudgins, Esquire, of the Office of Appellate Defense. The Applicant's appeal was dismissed by the Court of Appeals pursuant to Anders v California<sup>1</sup> on November 27, 2013. The Remittitur was issued on December 13, 2013.

Petitioner subsequently filed an application for post-conviction relief on January 22, 2014. Respondent filed a Return on March 20, 2014. On July 21, 2015, an evidentiary hearing was convened at the Charleston County Courthouse. Petitioner was present and represented by Rodney Davis, Esquire. Respondent was represented by J. Rutledge Johnson of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office. On September 18, 2015, the Honorable Roger E.

---

<sup>1</sup> 386 U.S. 738 (1967)

Henderson issued an Order of Dismissal. On June 8, 2016, Petitioner filed a Petitioner for Writ of Certiorari to this Court. This Return to Petitioner for Writ of Certiorari follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard for reviewing a PCR evidentiary hearing is whether “any evidence of probative value” exists to sustain the post-conviction relief judge's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). In a PCR proceeding, the Petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985).

## ARGUMENT

**The PCR court properly found Counsel was effective in her representation of Petitioner when Petitioner had ample opportunity to accept two plea offers but simply failed to do so.**

Petitioner asserts the PCR court erred in not finding Counsel ineffective to properly communicate with the solicitor that Petitioner wanted to accept the plea offer to a recommended cap of three years which resulted in the expiration of the offer before it could be formally accepted by the court. This argument is without merit.

“[A] defendant has no constitutional right to plea bargain.” Reed v. Becka, 333 S.C. 676, 685, 511 S.E.2d 396, 401 (Ct. App. 1999). Many “jurisdictions permit the prosecution to withdraw a plea offer or agreement if the defendant has not yet pled guilty.” Id., 333 at 686, 511 at 402. “A plea agreement is only an “offer” until the defendant enters a court-approved guilty plea. A defendant accepts the “offer” by pleading guilty. Thus, until formal acceptance of the plea by the court has occurred, the plea binds no one, not the defendant, the State, or the court.” Id., 333 at 688, 511 at 402.

Counsel testified the original offer was for a cap of three (3) years for possession of crack cocaine. (App. p. 362 lines 4-6) Counsel stated she asked the solicitor for a sentence of time served, but the solicitor rejected this idea. (App. p. 362 lines 11-19) Counsel also stated she relayed this offer to Applicant, but Applicant rejected it. (App. p. 362 line 20- p. 363 line 6). Counsel testified Applicant wanted the city case dismissed and then a dismissal of these charges. Counsel testified the original offer for a cap of three (3) years was in March or April of 2011, and that Applicant had until August to accept it. (App. p. 363 line 25- p. 364 line 17). Counsel requested that Applicant’s case be put on the docket one more time, but then Judge Hughston,

who was presiding over the August term of General Sessions, became ill and had to cancel the court term. (App. p. 364 lines 16-22). Counsel sent an email asking that the solicitor not penalize Applicant and that if Applicant did not plead guilty in August, for a five (5) year offer. (App. p. 364 line 23- p. 365 line 10). The solicitor offered Applicant five (5) years and the Applicant rejected the five (5) year offer on the record prior to trial. (App. p. 366 line 8- p. 377 line 9). Counsel also testified that, while it is not a "good practice," a solicitor may retract an offer at any time prior to a defendant accepting an offer. (App. p. 366 lines 1-5).

The PCR court first found Counsel's testimony concerning Counsel's alleged ineffective assistance of counsel credible, while finding Petitioner's testimony not credible. (App. p. 128) See Foye v. State, 335 S.C. 586, 518 S.E.2d 265 (1999) (Great deference is given to the PCR court's findings on matters of credibility, as the reviewing court lacks the opportunity to observe witnesses).

Then the PCR court held:

Counsel acted diligently in regards to the plea offers from the State. Applicant had over three (3) months to accept the plea offer, but failed to do so. As stated above, Counsel testified she relayed this offer to Applicant, but he rejected it. He then openly rejected the five (5) year offer on the record. This Court finds Applicant had ample opportunity to accept either offer, but rejected both of them. When he did not accept the offers, but rejected them, the solicitor was under no obligation to re-offer the plea bargains. Therefore, this Court finds Applicant failed to meet his burden of proving Counsel performed deficiently in this case and also finds no resulting prejudice due to Applicant's own actions.

App. p. 395.

The PCR court correctly found Counsel effectively represented Petitioner. Counsel testified that she not only negotiated with the State to obtain a very favorable plea offer on

Petitioner's behalf, but also practically begged Petitioner to accept the offer. Unlike Davie<sup>2</sup>, where counsel failed to advise a defendant of a plea offer, not only did Counsel relay this three-year offer to Petitioner that he rejected, but also Counsel urged Petitioner to accept the five-year offer prior to trial. (App. 362 line 20- p. 363 line 6; p. 367 lines 6-9). Simply put, it was Petitioner's decision to reject the offers. This is purely a case of buyer's remorse. Per Cherry, *supra*, there exists evidence of probative value to sustain the post-conviction relief judge's findings.

---

<sup>2</sup> Davie v. State, 381 S.C. 601, 675 S.E.2d 416 (2009)

**CONCLUSION**


For the reasons stated above, this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari and affirm the PCR Court's ruling. Should this Court grant Certiorari, the Respondent requests permission under the rules to brief the issues discussed above fully.